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          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Good morning, and

          3  welcome to today's Finance Committee hearing. I

          4  apologize for starting late. We had a leadership

          5  meeting regarding the budget this morning that we

          6  were discussing very issues that were very relevant,

          7  so I apologize.

          8                 My name is David Weprin. I chair the

          9  Finance Committee. We have a number of members that

         10  are here, and we'll have more members joining us. We

         11  have Council Member Peter Vallone from Queens,

         12  Council Member Eric Gioia from Queens, Council

         13  Member Diana Reyna from Brooklyn and Queens, and

         14  Council Member Vincent Gentile from Brooklyn. Both

         15  sides of the table, right. And next to me is Ann

         16  Brown, our Deputy Counsel to the Finance Committee.

         17                 Today we are conducting our first

         18  hearing on Intro. No. 143, a local law to establish

         19  a Flatbush Nostrand Junction BID in Brooklyn.

         20  Resolution 92-A, adopted by this Committee on March

         21  1st set today as a hearing date so that we may hear

         22  all those who may be affected by the establishment

         23  of the BID who wish to speak.

         24                 After we hear from all witnesses, we

         25  will adjourn the hearing for at least 30 days, which
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          2  is the statutorily-mandated time, in which property

          3  owners objecting to the establishment of a BID may

          4  file objections.

          5                 In the absence of significant

          6  objections, if the Committee and the Council can

          7  answer the following four questions affirmatively,

          8  it may adopt the local law establishing the BID.

          9                 The four questions we must be

         10  prepared to answer are:

         11                 Number one, were all notices of

         12  hearing for all hearings required to be held

         13  published and mailed as required by law and

         14  otherwise sufficient?

         15                 Two, does all the real property

         16  within the district boundaries benefit from the

         17  establishment of the district, except as otherwise

         18  provided by the law?

         19                 Three, is all real property

         20  benefitted by the district included within the

         21  district?

         22                 And, four, is the establishment of

         23  the district in the best interests of the public?

         24                 If the Committee finds in the

         25  affirmative on these four questions, and the number
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          2  of objections required to prevent the creation of

          3  the BID are not filed, then the legislation can be

          4  adopted.

          5                 In addition to the BID legislation,

          6  the Committee will also be considering two

          7  preconsidered M items relating to operating budget

          8  of the Council's budget for Fiscal Year '07, and one

          9  Land Use item.

         10                 Under the Charter, the Council must

         11  propose its own operating budget by March 24th. The

         12  proposed Fiscal Year '07 operating budget reflects a

         13  2.5 percent increase from the Fiscal Year '06

         14  current modified budget, which was adopted in

         15  November of last year.

         16                 Ed O'Malley and Joyce Singerman from

         17  Administrative Services will be testifying on the

         18  operating budget and can answer any questions you

         19  may have.

         20                 The Land Use legislation proposes the

         21  construction of the Sunset Gardens Housing Project

         22  being developed through the federal Section 202

         23  Supportive Housing Program for the elderly to

         24  provide rental housing for low-income seniors in the

         25  Borough of Brooklyn.
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          2                 Council Member Gonzalez, in whose

          3  district the project is located, supports the tax

          4  exemption and in her introductory appearance before

          5  the Finance Committee, Christina Katsanos of the

          6  Finance Division will be providing us with a brief

          7  overview of the project.

          8                 Christina and representatives from

          9  HPD, if available, will be able to answer any

         10  questions you may have.

         11                 We will now hear from Christina

         12  Katsanos, from the Finance Division, and then from

         13  the Department of Small Business Services on Intro.

         14  No. 143.

         15                 Ms. Katsanos.

         16                 MS. KATSANOS: Good morning. HPD has

         17  submitted a request to the Council to approve a

         18  property tax exemption for a project in Council

         19  Member Gonzalez's district. This is to be developed

         20  under the federal Section 202 Supportive Housing

         21  Program for the Elderly.

         22                 This federal program was created to

         23  provide rental housing for low-income seniors.

         24  Not-for-profit organizations purchase land and

         25  construct or rehabilitate residential buildings.
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          2                 The US Department of Housing and

          3  Urban Development provides financing through a

          4  capital advance, and the City provides a real

          5  property tax exemption.

          6                 Under the proposed project considered

          7  today, Sunset Gardens Housing Development Fund

          8  Corporation would purchase land at 405 44th Street,

          9  Brooklyn, in Council District 38 from the current

         10  private owner and construct one six-story building

         11  to yield 80 housing units.

         12                 Council Finance estimates that the

         13  value of the tax exemption to be granted by the City

         14  is approximately $201,504 in the first year, and

         15  15,193,655 million (sic) over the 40-year length of

         16  the exemption.

         17                 As Chairman David Weprin has said,

         18  this does have the approval of Council Member

         19  Gonzalez.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you, Ms.

         21  Katsanos.

         22                 We've been joined by a few more of

         23  our colleagues. We have Council Member Dennis

         24  Gallagher from Queens, we have Council Member Maria

         25  Baez from the Bronx, and Council Member Alan Gerson
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          2  from Manhattan.

          3                 Are there any questions for Ms.

          4  Katsanos?

          5                 See, you did an excellent job in your

          6  appearance.

          7                 We will now hear from the Department

          8  of Small Business Services. Mr. George Glatter.

          9                 Okay, and you have a panel, I

         10  understand, Mr. Glatter? Either way, whatever your

         11  preference is. Do you want to bring them up?

         12                 Just everybody, just identify them

         13  for the record, or have them identify themselves for

         14  the record.

         15                 MS. SIMS: My name is Hison Sims, and

         16  I'm a small business owner in the district.

         17                 MS. HICKEY: Cathy Hickey, Director of

         18  Economic Development, Flatbush Development

         19  Corporation.

         20                 MS. JOHNSON: Good morning. Grace

         21  Johnson, property owner in Flatbush and member of

         22  the Flatbush BID.

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GLATTER: Okay,

         24  good morning, Mr. Chairman, and members of the

         25  Finance Committee. I'm George Glatter, Assistant
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          2  Commissioner at the Department of Small Business

          3  Services. SBS supports the establishment of the

          4  Flatbush Nostrand Junction Business Improvement

          5  District in the Borough of Brooklyn.

          6                 Geographically, the proposed Flatbush

          7  Nostrand Junction BID encompasses properties on both

          8  sides of Flatbush Avenue, from Farragut Road on the

          9  north, to the Long Island Railroad cut on the south,

         10  Nostrand Avenue from Glenwood Road on the north to

         11  the Long Island Railroad cut on the south; Hillel

         12  Place between Flatbush Avenue and Campus Road, and

         13  Glenwood Road from just before -- just west of

         14  Flatbush Avenue to Nostrand Avenue.

         15                 Services to be provided in the

         16  Flatbush Nostrand Junction BID district includes

         17  street maintenance, graffiti removal, security,

         18  marketing, promotion, holiday lights, retail

         19  marketing, business recruitment, technical

         20  assistance, administration, and additional services

         21  as may be required for the promotion and enhancement

         22  of the district.

         23                 The Flatbush Nostrand Junction

         24  District Management Association will manage the

         25  district. The budget for the first year of operation
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          2  is $200,000.

          3                 As required by law, the Flatbush

          4  Nostrand Junction BID Steering Committee mailed a

          5  summary of the City Council resolution to each owner

          6  of real property within the proposed district at the

          7  address shown on the latest City assessment roll, or

          8  to such other persons as are registered with the

          9  City to receive tax bills concerning real property

         10  within the district, and to tenants of each building

         11  within the proposed district.

         12                 In addition, SBS arranged for the

         13  publication of the copy of the summary of the

         14  resolution at least once in the City Record.  Thank

         15  you, Mr. Chairman.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

         17                 We've been joined by Council Member

         18  Albert Vann from Brooklyn, and Council Member Bill

         19  DeBlasio from Brooklyn.

         20                 MS. JOHNSON: Good morning. As I said

         21  before, my name is Grace Johnson, and I'm a property

         22  owner at Flatbush Avenue and a proud member of the

         23  BID.

         24                 I have two establishments on

         25  Flatbush, a catering hall and also a bar and a
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          2  lounge room.

          3                 As you have heard before, the BID

          4  encompasses the Flatbush Avenue between Farragut

          5  Road and Avenue H, right down to Campus Road.

          6                 To give you a sense of the proposed

          7  BID's history, in the late 1990s, a group of

          8  property owners and business owners were concerned

          9  about the commercial viability of the Junction, and

         10  we met to discuss the use of the future of the area.

         11                 Out of this meeting, a Steering

         12  Committee was formed in order to revitalize the

         13  area. What I would like to do at this point is for

         14  to ask you to walk this area with me in your mind's

         15  eye. I would like to share with you some of the

         16  issues that we as property owners have encountered

         17  within this commercial corridor.

         18                 On any given day, like I said, I have

         19  a catering hall, we have private sanitation that

         20  removes the garbage up to Saturday morning, but on a

         21  Saturday night, I have a catering hall, I put out

         22  the garbage, and Monday morning it's really chaos,

         23  with what we have to face.

         24                 So, right now we have the streets are

         25  littered with garbage on a Monday morning, we have
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          2  graffiti, which we have a problem with, and on a

          3  positive side, we don't have much problems with

          4  vandalism, which is a good thing. But we feel that

          5  if our area is enhanced, we can attract more

          6  businesses, walk-by traffic, and this is the reason

          7  why we feel very strongly that the BID is a good

          8  thing for our neighborhood.

          9                 We also feel that, you know,

         10  government do so much, but if we as property owners

         11  get involved in our community, which we have done,

         12  and we can make so much positive enhancement to our

         13  area. Now, we're very proud today to how far we have

         14  gotten. There are many times over the past few years

         15  where we felt very disappointed and we are really

         16  pleased to be here today. We have had tremendous

         17  support from the neighborhood, and we are looking

         18  forward to do the implementation and the

         19  coordination of this with our Steering Committee.

         20                 Ladies and gentlemen, thanks very

         21  much for listening to me, and I am really glad to be

         22  part of the beginning to make this dream a reality.

         23  Thank you.

         24                 MS. HICKEY: Grace's vision gives us a

         25  clear picture of what a BID can do for the Junction.
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          2  In order for us to make this vision happen and

          3  understand what the community wants, we've conducted

          4  outreach and surveys.

          5                 Over the last several years we've

          6  completed four informational mailings to property

          7  owners, made hundreds of phone calls to property and

          8  business owners, had 30 plus face-to-face meetings

          9  with business and property owners via the Junction

         10  50 plus times for meetings and informational needs,

         11  hosted two successful public meetings. Over 20

         12  articles were published about the Junction BID

         13  beginning 1998, 75 percent were published between

         14  February 2005 to the present.

         15                 This past summer we implemented a

         16  Taste of the BID Program, offering street sweeping

         17  and graffiti removal for six weeks. It was a wildly

         18  successful program.

         19                 This outreach has garnered us a 90

         20  percent approval on assessed property value.

         21                 In terms of survey results, the

         22  survey conducted in Fiscal Year 2005 revealed 35

         23  percent have been in business for less than five

         24  years, 40 percent agreed business was the same from

         25  one year to the next, 87 percent of primary
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          2  customers are area residents.

          3                 Fridays and Saturdays are the busiest

          4  nights of the week. And quality of life findings

          5  determined the four biggest issues in the Junction

          6  are sanitation, security, parking and traffic

          7  congestion, both seen as deterrents to shopping, and

          8  capital improvements such as facade lighting,

          9  sidewalk and street repair are much needed.

         10                 The BID's core services will be

         11  tailored to the area to ensure clean and safe

         12  streets.

         13                 MS. SIMS: Again, my name is Hison

         14  Sims, and I'm a small business owner in the BID

         15  district.

         16                 Grace Johnson has just described the

         17  dream that Flatbush can become. The Steering

         18  Committee proposes the following services for the

         19  junction area to make that dream a reality:

         20                 Sanitation services will provide two

         21  uniformed workers seven days a week eight hours a

         22  day.

         23                 Sweeping of sidewalk of the

         24  designated walkways and bagging the litter.

         25                 Removal of filled garbage bags from

                                                            16

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  the trash receptacles in the area and replaced with

          3  new liners.

          4                 Line-up of new boxes. Removal of all

          5  posters, stickers and other derbies from the street

          6  furniture, including parking and traffic signs.

          7                 Snow removal from catchbasins and

          8  crosswalks during the winter season. Current cost of

          9  sanitation is roughly $50,000, or 25 percent of the

         10  BID budget.

         11                 Security services. Will provide two

         12  uniformed security guards 30 hours a week, four days

         13  a week, Thursday through Sunday, radio equipped and

         14  patrol on foot and/or bicycle. Current cost of the

         15  security is roughly $64,000, or 35 percent of the

         16  BID budget.

         17                 Other services included promotion of

         18  the district and holiday lighting, minimum office

         19  and administrative cost, since Brooklyn College will

         20  provide office and storage space.

         21                 The BID manager will be full-time.

         22  The individual will act as our personal advocate,

         23  looking out for our commercial corridor, overseeing

         24  the operation of services we need, organizing events

         25  to bring more foot traffic to the area.
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          2                 The Junction received a $4.5 million

          3  in capital funding from Council Member Kendall

          4  Stewart, for a magnificent streetscape improvement

          5  for the Flatbush Nostrand Junction BID.

          6                 We are working with New York City

          7  Economic Development Corporation on this project

          8  which will include new curbs, gutters, sidewalks,

          9  trees, information kiosks, and pile-ons.

         10                 Last summer the steering committee,

         11  FDC, Astoria, federal, HSBC, and Flatbush Federal

         12  Saving Bank sponsored A Taste of the BID Program,

         13  which provided the following BID services:

         14                 Six weeks of sidewalk sweeping,

         15  graffiti and poster removal, and increased security

         16  in the form of additional beat cops from the 70th

         17  Precinct. The program was a huge success. The

         18  Junction was cleaner than ever. Residents and

         19  property owners alike gave positive feedback.

         20                 As A Taste of the BID showed, the

         21  goal of the junction revitalization effort is to

         22  create a cleaner, safer and more inviting

         23  environment for customers and to help businesses to

         24  thrive and reinvest in the area through the creation

         25  of a BID.
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          2                 The long-term goal for establishing

          3  the BID are to enhance the appearance of the

          4  commercial corridor, attract new businesses and

          5  clients to the area, and to promote the commercial

          6  district to BID-sponsored events and marketing

          7  campaigns.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

         10                 I believe Council Member Gentile had

         11  a question.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Thank you,

         13  Mr. Chairman, and thank you all for being here

         14  today.

         15                 I'm just curious, I'm looking at the

         16  map here, the BID does include the area of the

         17  campus, Brooklyn College Campus; am I correct about

         18  that?

         19                 MS. HICKEY: Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Now, what

         21  role do they play in this BID?

         22                 MS. HICKEY: They are giving us office

         23  space, as well as they are helping us to furnish the

         24  office, and we will work with the student

         25  populations, cultivate interns, as well as receive
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          2  graphic design services, and any other in-kind

          3  services.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: A large area

          5  of the entire BID is actually the campus; and I

          6  correct about that?

          7                 MS. HICKEY: Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Are they a

          9  voting member of this BID?

         10                 MS. HICKEY: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: They will be

         12  a voting member?

         13                 MS. HICKEY: Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Okay.

         15                 MS. HICKEY: We received their vote.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: And are they

         17  a dues-paying member of the BID?

         18                 MS. HICKEY: No, they're not. That's

         19  why they're giving in-kind services.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: That's why

         21  the in-kind services, okay. Okay, very good. Thank

         22  you. Good job. Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We've been joined

         24  by a few Council members. We have Council Member

         25  Gale Brewer from Manhattan, Council Member Lew
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          2  Fidler from Brooklyn, and Council Member Helen Sears

          3  from Queens.

          4                 I'd like to read into the record a

          5  letter in support of this proposed BID by

          6  Comptroller William Thompson, Jr.

          7                 It's addressed to me. "Dear Council

          8  Member Weprin, the Comptroller of the City of New

          9  York serves as an ex-officio member of the Board of

         10  Directors on all Business Improvement Districts.

         11  During my term as Comptroller, I found these

         12  public/private partnerships to be effective in

         13  developing new and innovative programs that support

         14  local business. BIDs have a proven track record of

         15  success in a broad range of communities across our

         16  City. Efforts to incubate additional Business

         17  Improvement Districts deserve the support of all New

         18  Yorkers interested in improving the business

         19  climate, along our neighborhood, commercial streets

         20  that is such a crucial part of community life.

         21                 I'm especially pleased to support the

         22  creation of this new BID at the Junction of Flatbush

         23  Nostrand Avenue in the Borough of Brooklyn. The

         24  Junction is a well-known commercial area that will

         25  benefit greatly from the creation of this new BID.
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          2                 I urge the Council to pass Intro.

          3  143.

          4                 Very truly yours, William C.

          5  Thompson, Jr."

          6                 I believe Council Member Sears had a

          7  question.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you, Mr.

          9  Chair.

         10                 Just a couple of brief questions.

         11  One, what is the budget of this BID? And how many

         12  businesses comprise the BID, since Brooklyn College

         13  is, and I know it was exempt from being assessed any

         14  dollars as BIDs do, and I'm a big supporter of BIDs,

         15  so I ask that question, not in a negative way.

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GLATTER:

         17  Council Member, perhaps I should explain that.

         18                 The reason that Brooklyn College's

         19  campus from basically Nostrand to Bedford Avenue is

         20  included is that's one tax lot. The BID is not going

         21  to be cleaning the campus all around, just the front

         22  streets. But since it's one tax lot, we have to put

         23  it in as a tax lot.

         24                 Okay?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: If it was one

                                                            22

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  tax lot, you have a formula, and if that's a very

          3  large area, that formula would generate more dollars

          4  for the BID; am I correct on that?

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GLATTER:

          6  Except that it's exempt.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: They wouldn't

          8  have as small merchants would be doing.

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GLATTER:

         10  Right.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: It would depend

         12  on the square footage and formula for that amount of

         13  space.

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GLATTER:

         15  Right. But it is a publicly-owned property, so it's

         16  exempt from the assessment.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: That I know.

         18  No, I understand why they're exempt.

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER GLATTER:

         20  Again, the services that are being provided are

         21  toward the front where the stores are, not toward

         22  the back where the campus --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: How many

         24  businesses make up this BID?

         25                 MS. HICKEY: Two-hundred and
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          2  thirty-five.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay.

          4                 And the budget? Do you know the

          5  budget?

          6                 MS. HICKEY: It's $200,000.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay. All

          8  right.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

         11  Council member.

         12                 Any further questions for this panel?

         13                 Seeing none, thank you very much.

         14                 Would anyone else like to testify pro

         15  or con on this proposed BID?

         16                 Okay, as provided in the rules, we

         17  will recess for 30 days on this proposed BID and set

         18  it for a future date for a hearing.

         19                 If we can hear from Joyce Singerman

         20  and Ed O'Malley on the proposed Council Budget.

         21                 MR. O'MALLEY: Good morning, Council

         22  Member Weprin, Chair, and the rest of the Committee

         23  members.

         24                 My name is Ed O'Malley. I'm Director

         25  of Administrative Services for the Council.
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          2                 I'll turn the mike over to Joyce.

          3                 MS. SINGERMAN: Good morning, Chairman

          4  Weprin and members of the Finance Committee. I'm

          5  Joyce Singerman, Fiscal Officer, Administrative

          6  Services Division of the City Council.

          7                 We're before you today with the

          8  Council's Fiscal Year 2007 operating budget.

          9                 This budget is $50,799,439, an

         10  increase of $1,248,173 from our Fiscal Year 2006

         11  budget, as modified in November 2005, an overall

         12  increase of two and a half percent.

         13                 Our PS budget is down $25,902 from

         14  the November 2005 modified plan. The increases for

         15  Fiscal Year 2007 are in central OTPS. An increase of

         16  $1,274,000 to fund new Council Initiatives,

         17  including Council staff, computer upgrades and taxes

         18  and operating costs related to our 250 Broadway

         19  lease.

         20                 Additionally, increases are allocated

         21  for Council member district office needs, primarily

         22  for rent increases.

         23                 If you have any questions, we'd be

         24  happy to answer them at this time.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Any members have

          3  any questions?

          4                 Council Member Brewer.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I haven't read

          6  this, so you could tell me if it's in here. But for

          7  those of us, does each Council member get the same

          8  amount for rent and staff, even across the board?

          9                 MS. SINGERMAN: Yes, the increase is

         10  the same across the board.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: The actual budget

         13  per member will be 262,000.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So is that the

         15  same as in '06?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: No, it's $12,478

         17  more per member.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. And

         19  that's for OTPS or PS, either one?

         20                 MS. SINGERMAN: It's a combination of

         21  both.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: For both.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Are you finished?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I'm finished

         25  now but I may come back. Go ahead.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.

          3                 Council Member McMahon, who we've

          4  been joined by.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you,

          6  Council Member Weprin. And just to follow up with

          7  Council Member Brewer, a good portion of that is to

          8  bring us in line with the labor agreement that the

          9  Administration made with different unions to match,

         10  so that we can keep the increase in pay that was --

         11  I don't want to say the word mandated, but for lack

         12  of a better word -- it was mandated, is that the

         13  right word? So, it's almost just allowing us to meet

         14  those mandates, from what the Administration agreed

         15  to with the labor unions; is that correct?

         16                 MR. O'MALLEY: That's correct.

         17                 MS. SINGERMAN: Correct.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         19  Brewer.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I also have a

         21  question, you said computers and 250 Broadway.

         22  Understandably the lease going up at 250 Broadway.

         23  When you say "computers," what do you mean by that?

         24                 MR. O'MALLEY: Our computer system has

         25  been on line for approximately eight years, and
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          2  right now we're in the process of reviewing it and

          3  determining whether it needs to be upgraded or

          4  replaced.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And so that's

          6  an increase to do that?

          7                 MR. O'MALLEY: Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: How much of an

          9  increase to do that?

         10                 MR. O'MALLEY: It's included in a lump

         11  sum for that purpose. There will be money in that

         12  also for the CouncilStat Program that the Speaker

         13  has announced. So, it's all sort of melded in

         14  together.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. So, in

         16  other words, it's PS and capital mixed together? Or

         17  when you --

         18                 MR. O'MALLEY: Well, we don't have a

         19  capital project yet. Hopefully most of that will be

         20  capitalized, but we'll need some seed money to start

         21  the project for consultants, and also to maintain

         22  the system until the new one comes on line.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. So, what

         24  the hope is, to have a new system in this fiscal

         25  year?
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          2                 MS. SINGERMAN: In Fiscal Year 2007

          3  hopefully.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: That's what

          5  I'm asking.

          6                 MS. SINGERMAN: Hopefully.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: That's the

          8  concept?

          9                 MR. O'MALLEY: Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay, thank

         11  you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Any other

         13  questions?

         14                 Yes, Council Member Reyna.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Have we

         16  replaced the positions that have been let go of? And

         17  is that reflective in this budget?

         18                 MS. SINGERMAN: Some of the positions

         19  have been replaced already, and they're scheduled in

         20  Fiscal Year 2007.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And those that

         22  have not been filled, are they reflective in this

         23  budget, despite the fact that there's a vacancy?

         24                 MS. SINGERMAN: Yes, because Fiscal

         25  Year 2007.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Okay, thank

          3  you.

          4                 MS. SINGERMAN: Our headcount has not

          5  changed.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Any further

          7  questions?

          8                 I must add, by the way, this is a

          9  very modest increase. The Council, as you all know,

         10  has the authority to do their own budget outside of

         11  the Mayor's purview. The Mayor cannot veto this

         12  budget. This is a budget that is totally in our

         13  discretion under the City Charter. However, we've

         14  done a very modest increase based on a very

         15  responsible approach of COLAs which were necessary,

         16  which was actually along the lines of the

         17  Administration taking the lead for Mayoral

         18  employees, plus providing a modest increase for the

         19  escalation of rent clauses, as well as was testified

         20  in escalation of computer services.

         21                 And the bulk of the increase will be

         22  spread throughout every Council Member's district,

         23  so there are no favorites here with giving each

         24  Council Member the $12,478 across the board, which,

         25  again, is in conjunction with, you know, the
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          2  philosophy of spreading, involving as many members

          3  as possible, allowing more input from individual

          4  members, and allowing the fairest and broadest

          5  distribution of Council money.

          6                 I just wanted to state that for the

          7  record.

          8                 I'm going to couple two preconsidered

          9  miscellaneous items relating to Fiscal Year '04,

         10  Council's operating budget, along with the Land Use

         11  item, the FY '07. I'm a couple of years behind. FY

         12  '07 Council's operating budget and the one Land Use

         13  item.

         14                 Okay, and we're not going to take a

         15  vote on the BID because we're setting aside the

         16  30-day period for additional comment and then we'll

         17  take a vote on the BID at a later meeting,

         18  subsequent to the 30-day lapse.

         19                 Call the roll, please.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member Weprin.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Aye on all.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK: Reyna.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Pass.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK: Brewer.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Aye on all.
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          2  Although, just on the Council budget, we just got it

          3  I think just now, so it's hard to analyze

          4  completely. I'll vote aye but will be looking at it

          5  even more carefully. Thank you.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK: Comrie.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I want to

          8  congratulate the Finance staff and the Speaker for

          9  putting together what I think is an austere budget,

         10  but reflecting the needs of Council, and realizing

         11  what our future expectations will be. And I just

         12  wanted to show Council Member Brewer that the

         13  hardware for the computer services can be put in the

         14  Council budget, not in the Expense budget. So, once

         15  they make an assessment, because that's one of the

         16  things that I've been fighting for, and I know you

         17  have, to upgrade the computer system in the Council

         18  because they're woefully out of date, but that money

         19  can be put in capitals, so we're not locked into

         20  this fixed number this fixed year, and hopefully

         21  once they do a full assessment, we can get a real

         22  number and do it all in one, do it in a

         23  comprehensive manner.

         24                 But I want to congratulate Ed

         25  O'Malley and Joyce Singerman for their first
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          2  testimony, as well as in the Finance, and I think

          3  that this budget is reflective of a positive

          4  statement from the Council.

          5                 I also want to congratulate the

          6  Speaker on her commitment to not modifying it during

          7  the year to make this the budget, and that's it.

          8                 I vote aye on all.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK: DeBlasio.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Aye on all.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK: Fidler.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Mr. Chairman,

         13  I also want to congratulate the Speaker and the

         14  Finance staff on this budget proposal, and to the

         15  point that Council Member Comrie just made. We're

         16  probably not as aware as we should be of the fact

         17  that each of the last four years, we significantly

         18  augmented the Council budget, with a budget mod each

         19  year that kind of slips through under the cracks and

         20  is less than transparent.

         21                 I think we're being a lot more honest

         22  with people by acknowledging what it costs, and, you

         23  know, where the money is, than by adding $1.1

         24  million or $2 million, as we did last year in a fall

         25  budget mod. I think it's much more realistic. I just
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          2  point out that we, each as members, you know, have

          3  in addition to the COLA cost for our employees,

          4  which is certainly fair and due, we've all seen our

          5  office rents go up and there has been no

          6  acknowledgment of that for four years.

          7                 And as we all know, the Mayor's

          8  Preliminary Budget shows that the Mayor's Office

          9  Budget will be going up by eight percent, and that's

         10  all justifiable and reasonable. So, a two and a half

         11  percent increase in the Council operating budget is

         12  austere and reasonable, and is reflective of the

         13  fact that we're not spending money like drunken

         14  sailors.

         15                 So, I vote aye on all.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gerson.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Aye on all.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gioia.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I vote yes, and

         20  I'm pleased to see that we're not spending money

         21  like drunken sailors.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK: Koppell.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Aye.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK: McMahon.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Although I'm
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          2  tempted to defend those men and women who earn their

          3  income by working out at sea, I know that it might

          4  be best to let it pass, but also to say that I

          5  commend the Speaker and Joyce Singerman and Ed

          6  O'Malley, and everyone over at the Finance Division

          7  for giving us a good budget to vote on, and you, Mr.

          8  Chairman, for keeping it in line, the fact that we

          9  want to work responsibly. We have to meet the

         10  mandates that were set through the collective

         11  bargaining by the Administration as it affects our

         12  staff, and that's a large portion of any of the

         13  three percent increase. But as we keep headcount

         14  down and cell phones out of the Committee Room, I

         15  will proudly vote aye on all. Thank you.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK: Rivera.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: I vote aye.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK: Baez.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ: Aye.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK: Sears.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Chair, I just

         22  wish to commend Finance, because I know that they

         23  worked til the wee hours of the morning to get this

         24  budget done so that we could vote on it today.

         25                 And for Councilman Fidler, I think
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          2  this Council has been very austere in dollars. I

          3  think that we spend it very wisely. I think we're

          4  very wise when it comes to the overall budget, and

          5  that we must recognize that we have very dedicated

          6  employees in all our offices, because they get

          7  wonderful training, and when they get to the private

          8  sector, it's nowhere near what the City pays them.

          9  So, I think we certainly know that we are very

         10  austere, and it has taken a lot of credit from

         11  Finance to do that.

         12                 So, I thank you, and I vote aye.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK: Vallone.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: On behalf of

         15  the Navy, I have to object to Council Member Gioia's

         16  characterization of sailors as drunken, but I think

         17  that's already been done, so I'll just vote aye.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK: Vann.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: To explain my

         20  vote, I'm an ex-Marine, and the sailors always

         21  protected us when we were on their ships, and I can

         22  say without fear of contradiction, every sailor does

         23  not drink and get drunk. I know a couple. And having

         24  explained my vote, I vote aye on all.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gentile.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Aye on all.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: Gallagher.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Aye.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK: Reyna.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Mr. Chair, just

          7  for a point of clarification, it was Council Member

          8  Fidler's characterization of sailors and not Council

          9  Member Gioia's characterization.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Oh, I heard it

         11  was Gioia.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: Jackson.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Aye on all.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of 17 in the

         15  affirmative, zero in the negative and one

         16  abstention, all items are adopted.

         17                 Council members, please sign the

         18  Committee report.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I'm going to keep

         21  the roll open for a reasonable period of time. For

         22  those that are around the building, I know Council

         23  Member Yassky is one of those, as well as there are

         24  a number of other Council members that have meetings

         25  within the building, so I will keep the roll open
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          2  for them.

          3                 Other than that, we're adjourned.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member Yassky.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Aye on all.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK: The vote now stands at

          7  eighteen, zero and one.

          8                 The current vote on the Committee on

          9  Finance is 18 in the affirmative, zero in the

         10  negative and no abstentions.

         11                 (Hearing concluded at 11:25 a.m.)
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